II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Summary of the Case.

Prior to his death, Dr. Albert Price established a trust (later modified by amendment) which had multiple purposes, one of which was to provide college scholarships for "worthy boys and girls." In the amendment to his trust, he specifically directed that his "blood relatives" be given preference for these scholarships. The scholarship "phase" of his trust was not to begin until his sisters who survived him had all passed away.

After his death, his remaining estate (which was substantial) was supposed to be paid into the trust. However, for tax reasons which did not exist at the time the trust was created, the trustee United Bank filed a "friendly" lawsuit in

the Circuit Court of Boone County, West Virginia (the county of Dr. Price's residence and the probate of his will) wherein it requested permission to divert the money from his estate into a court-authorized second trust. Importantly, this second trust eliminated the preference for college scholarships for Dr. Price's "blood relatives." However, United Bank asserted to the Boone County Circuit Court that the original trust would stay intact and that his "blood relatives" would receive preferential scholarships out of the existing trust. Based in part upon the Bank's assertions, the Boone County Circuit Court authorized the creation of the second, reformed trust.

Several years later, Dr. Price's last surviving sister died, and his "blood relatives" should have started receiving preference for college scholarships from the first trust. However, despite its prior representations to Dr. Price's relatives and to the Boone County Circuit Court and without seeking any court approval, United Bank terminated the first trust, moved all assets of the first trust into the second trust, and refused thereafter to honor Dr. Price's instructions to provide his "blood relatives" with scholarships.

When it became apparent that this dispute would reach the courts, United Bank made it to the courthouse first by filing a declaratory judgment action in Wood County, West Virginia, seeking a ruling that its conversion of funds from the first trust into the second trust was a proper exercise of its fiduciary power. Contemporaneously, Appellants filed a complaint

in Boone County seeking, among other things, class action status and damages for the wrongs committed by the trustee United Bank. Appellants moved unsuccessfully for dismissal of the Wood County suit, and instead the Boone County action was ordered to be transferred to Wood County. Without any discovery occurring in the case, the Wood County Circuit Court then held, as a matter of law, that the term "blood relatives" as used in Dr. Price's trust means "heirs at law," ruled without any supporting evidence that there was only one remaining heir at law now living with standing to make a claim, found that Appellants had no standing in the case, and dismissed Appellants from the case. A more detailed recitation of the facts follows.

B. The Parties.

Dr. Albert M. Price was an optometrist who practiced for many decades in Boone County, West Virginia. Dr. Price was from a large family with strong roots in the Big Coal River area of Raleigh and Boone counties. Appellants are "blood relatives" of Dr. Price who died in 1976, a resident of Boone County.

Before his death, Dr. Price established a trust by a written agreement dated April 4, 1957 with Kanawha Banking and Trust Company. Kanawha Banking and Trust Company was a bank headquartered in Charleston, Kanawha County, West Virginia and doing business in Boone County. In 1986, United Bank, Inc. (then known as United National Bank) took over Kanawha Banking and Trust Company. United Bank (hereinafter, the "Bank") has its headquarters in Wood County, West Virginia, but still maintains

its Charleston office in the United Center, 500 Virginia Street, East, Charleston, Kanawha County, West Virginia. For the purposes of this appeal, it is important to note that United Bank continues to maintain a trust office at its Charleston, West Virginia branch.¹

C. The 1957 Trust.

In general, Albert M. Price's 1957 Trust directed that the income from the trust be distributed to Dr. Price's sisters during their lifetimes,² and upon the death of the last surviving sister, Dr. Price directed that the trust be held and administered as a trust to provide scholarships. Motion to Dismiss for Improper Venue, at Exhibit A. On January 14, 1969, Dr. Price amended the 1957 Trust by a supplemental agreement which established a priority for qualified "blood relatives" of Albert M. Price in the awarding of scholarships.³ Motion to Dismiss for Improper Venue, at Exhibit C.

D. The 1977 Complaint and Reformed Trust.

Dr. Price died on November 6, 1976. His will (including a handwritten codicil) was duly admitted to probate by

¹United Bank's main web site page is located at www.unitedbank-wv.com. At that page, one can click on an icon for the Bank's "Trust/Investment Services." That page notes where the Bank's trust offices are located throughout West Virginia. Importantly, those seeking additional information on the Bank's trust services are provided with a phone number for its **Charleston** offices (348-8355).

²Dr. Price had no wife or children.

³Hereinafter, the "1957 Trust" refers to the 1957 trust, as amended in 1969, unless otherwise indicated.

the County Commission of Boone County, West Virginia, and the Bank was appointed executor of his Estate. The will basically gave Dr. Price's probate estate to the 1957 Trust (commonly called a "pour over"). Dr. Price's probate estate was subject to federal estate tax, and the Bank as executor determined that because of changes made by the Tax Reform Act of 1969 the pour over of Dr. Price's probate estate which was given in his will to the 1957 Trust would not qualify for the federal estate tax charitable deduction. Specifically, the preferential treatment of the donor's relatives for scholarships as Dr. Price intended would disqualify the Trust. To correct this problem, on December 28, 1977, the Bank filed a complaint for declaratory judgment in the Circuit Court of Boone County, West Virginia to determine whether Dr. Price's will could be reformed so his estate would qualify for the federal estate tax charitable deduction (hereinafter, the "1977 Complaint").

The Bank's 1977 Complaint sought permission from the Boone County Circuit Court to place the funds from Dr. Price's probate estate into a *second, separate, and court-approved trust* which would be identical to the original 1957 Trust but which would be reformed so as not to contain the defective provisions which had adverse tax consequences. The preference for "blood relatives" in awarding scholarships was to be deleted. Among other things, ***the Bank represented to the Boone County Circuit Court in the 1977 Complaint that the 1957 Trust would continue on its own and would not be altered in any way, including the***

preference for awarding scholarships to the "blood relatives" of Albert M. Price.

The 1977 Complaint was a "friendly lawsuit" in which there was no true adverse party. See, e.g., State ex rel. Deputy Sheriff's Assoc. v. Sims, 513 S.E.2d 669 (W. Va. 1998). Indeed, in order to insure that there was no real opposition to the relief sought in the 1977 Complaint, the Bank caused a letter dated December 30, 1977 to be sent to the "Blood Relatives of Dr. Albert M. Price." Motion to Dismiss for Improper Venue, at Exhibit E.

Such letter, authored by the Bank's trust officer Doyle C. Parkins, mis-characterized the Complaint as a mere "formality" and encouraged the relatives to hire the same attorney who was representing Albert Price's then living sisters (who were not opposed to Petitioner's requested relief). Mr. Parkins' letter also included a letter dated October 12, 1977 from attorney David Higgins, who represented the Bank in the 1977 Complaint. Motion to Dismiss for Improper Venue, at Exhibit F.

Attorney Higgins' letter of October 12, 1977 began by recognizing, among other things, that Albert Price had the testamentary intent to provide scholarships "with particular emphasis on [his] blood relatives." The letter went on to explain the adverse tax consequences of placing Mr. Price's remaining estate into the 1957 Trust, recommended the court-ordered establishment of a second trust free from provisions with adverse tax consequences, and argued that Mr. Price's then-living

sisters and his blood relatives would not be adversely affected by allowing "the 1957 trust to continue undisturbed[.]" Although Attorney Higgins' letter disclosed that the 1957 trust had assets of approximately \$200,000, it failed to disclose that the value of the residuary probate estate was substantially greater, being approximately \$625,000.

Based upon the affirmative representations of Appellee, and in the absence of any real objections by any *bona fide* defendants, the Circuit Court of Boone County entered an order granting the relief sought in the 1977 Complaint. Motion to Dismiss for Improper Venue, at Exhibit G. The 1957 Trust was left intact and unchanged as a private trust for the decedent's sisters and the "blood relatives."

E. The 1988 Conversion of the Assets of the 1957 Trust.

Albert M. Price's last surviving sister died on August 13, 1988. At that time, the scholarship phases of the 1957 Trust and the 1977 Reformed Trust began. Instead of administering the 1957 Trust in accordance with its terms by providing scholarships to the "blood relatives," the Bank simply merged and combined the assets of the 1957 Trust into the assets of the 1977 Reformed Trust.⁴ Such merger was done without any approval or consent of

⁴At this point, the 1957 Trust essentially ceased to exist, because it's *res* had been misappropriated. The surviving trust is the 1977 Reformed Trust. This becomes significant later, when in 2003 the Bank argues that it is administering the trust from Wood County, West Virginia. Without a *res*, it is impossible for the Bank to be administering the 1957 Trust *anywhere*, let alone Wood County.

the Boone County Circuit Court, any other court, or any parties interested in the trusts including the Appellants. As a result, the Bank thereafter violated the terms of the 1957 Trust and the order of the Boone County Circuit Court and deprived the "blood relatives" of the preferential treatment for scholarships as required under the 1957 Trust. Appellants contend that United Bank's actions constitute several serious torts including breach of fiduciary duty, conversion, negligent or intentional misrepresentation, and fraud. To this day, no blood relative of Albert M. Price has ever received a preferential scholarship.

F. The Venue Hearing Before Judge Hill.

From this background, on July 30, 2003, the Bank as plaintiff filed a *Petition for Declaratory Relief* against the Appellants and others as defendants in the Circuit Court of Wood County, West Virginia. Before answers were filed by any defendants, the Bank filed on August 6, 2003 an *Amended Petition for Declaratory Relief*. The Bank prayed for an "order stating that the Trustee of the Albert M. Price Trust has administered and is administering the trust properly."

On September 15, 2003, Appellants, who are some of the "blood relatives" joined as defendants in the Wood County action, filed a motion to dismiss on grounds of improper venue in Wood County. The sole basis for the Bank's claimed venue in Wood County is that the Bank's "headquarters" is in Wood County and that the trust res is therefore in Wood County. Appellants contend that no venue or jurisdiction properly lies in Wood

County. Venue and jurisdiction lie in Boone County where the settlor resided, the trust was accepted, the decedent died, the estate was probated, the Bank was appointed as executor, the Bank previously filed the action to create the 1977 Reformed Trust, and most of the defendants reside.

A hearing on the motion to dismiss was held on October 20, 2003. See generally, Transcript of 10/20/2003 hearing. At that time, the Bank conceded that the general venue statute in West Virginia, W. Va. Code § 56-1-1, requires a suit to be filed where a defendant resides or where the cause of action arose. Id., at p. 19. The Bank then contended that in this case the "cause of action" arose in Wood County because the trust is being administered in Wood County and the purpose of the declaratory judgment action is to obtain a decree that the trust has been administered properly. Id., at p. 20. Moreover, the Bank asserted proper venue under W. Va. Code § 35-2-2, which permits a trustee to bring an action in the county where the trust subject is when there is a question as to who are the beneficiaries of the trust. Id. The only **evidence** submitted by the Bank at this hearing that the trust *res* is present in Wood County was counsel's unsupported statement that the trust's current trust officer works in Parkersburg. Id.

The Bank has never previously contended that the 1957 Trust was located in Wood County. After the *res* of that trust was misappropriated into the 1977 Reformed Trust in 1988, the Bank held out that 1977 Reformed Trust had a situs in Kanawha

County. Appellants, even without conducting discovery, were able to produce for the circuit court several documents generated by the Bank which list the situs of the 1977 Reformed Trust as being in Kanawha County. These documents include: (1) a 1989 document filed with the Internal Revenue Service adopting rules and regulations of the trust; (2) a 2001 Return of Private Foundation; and (3) a letter from a trust officer to the Bank's counsel in 1994 seeking advice regarding the trust.⁵ In other words, at all other times *outside of this present litigation*, the Bank appears to have listed the trust's situs as Kanawha County. For whatever reason, the Bank has decided that this litigation should take place in Wood County.

Despite this evidence, Judge Hill simply chose to ignore the Bank's own admissions:

THE COURT: Well, they say the trust officer is here [Wood County], that administers it and does the work in it. And that is an important indicia.

MR. KELLEY: It is, but I think it is also an important indicia when you represent to the Internal Revenue Service that the situs is in Charleston, West Virginia, in 2001. When did that change, if there is a trust officer in Wood County, as they say, that was working this trust in 2001? But in 2001, they took the position, with their federal filings, that the trust was located in Charleston. How can they now, under the same set of facts, argue that the situs of the trust is here in --

⁵These documents were shown to Judge Hill at the venue hearing, and a discussion about them appears in the transcript from that hearing. However, they were not submitted as formal exhibits.

THE COURT: What is the difference? How does that make any -- how does the fact that the Internal Revenue Service thinks it is in Charleston have anything to do with the case?

MR. KELLEY: Because they have taken that position.

THE COURT: Yeah, but it is not a position that take, it is what the facts show, in my opinion. It is not the lawyers' positions that are going to control this motion. It is the factual situation.

MR. KELLEY: I would contend that their own filings constitute an admission, on the part of the bank, that the situs is in Charleston.

THE COURT: Why? What good is it? What purpose does it serve for the bank to have it here as opposed to anywhere else?

Transcript of 10/20/2003 hearing, at pp. 27-28.

Judge Hill denied the Appellants' motion to dismiss the proceedings from Wood County based upon nothing more than the Bank's assertion that the trust officer who oversees the 1977 Reformed Trust works in Parkersburg. In doing so, the Judge ignored the Bank's own prior admissions that the situs of the trust is in Kanawha County; the extensive history of both trusts with their historical connection to Boone County; the location of the trust officer in Kanawha County who was in charge when the 1957 Trust was raided in 1988; the residences of the "blood relatives," most of whom were and are from Boone County; a forum selection clause in the 1957 Trust indicated Kanawha County; and, the 1978 Order of the Boone County Circuit Court which called for future actions involving the 1977 Reformed Trust to be brought back in Boone County.

Again, despite all of this, the Judge refused to transfer the venue of the case to Boone County:

THE COURT: Now, in order for involuntary change of venue to occur, there has to be a showing that Boone County would better afford convenience to the parties and the witnesses likely to be called, and if the ends of justice would be better served by such change of venue. I mean, I have heard arguments both ways on this. I can't find anything, except for the fact that the bank, who is resident here, and apparently is administering the trust from here, has brought this action here. And I can't find any overriding reason, to serve the ends of justice, to change it.

Id., at pp. 30-31.

G. Summary Judgment.

After the venue issue was decided by the Wood County Circuit Court, and again without any discovery in the case, United Bank filed a *Motion for Summary Judgment* which sought, in essence, rulings from the court: (1) that the term "blood relatives" as used by Dr. Price in the trust instrument means "heirs at law"; (2) that Patricia Milam (a named party who did not appear in the action) was the sole surviving heir at law; and (3) that, because Ms. Milam was the sole heir at law, Appellants as other and more distant relatives lacked standing to sue United Bank. After the briefing of the issues and oral argument, the circuit court entered a final order granting all of the relief requested by United Bank.

Appellants now seek (1) reversal of the circuit court's ruling that the term "blood relatives" means "heirs at law; (2) a ruling from this Court that "blood relatives" means

"descendants"⁶ or a remand for further factual development on the intent of Dr. Albert Price; (3) reversal of the circuit court's ruling that venue was proper in Wood County, West Virginia and a transfer of this case to the Boone County Circuit Court; and (4) reversal of the circuit court's ruling that Appellants have no standing to pursue their claims against United Bank as well as the ruling that Patricia Milam constitutes the sole remaining "blood relative" of Dr. Albert Price.

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The circuit court erred when it ruled as a matter of law that the term "blood relatives" as used by Dr. Price means "heirs at law" because such a construction eviscerates Dr. Price's undisputable intent to establish scholarships available to his descendants.
- B. The circuit court erred when it failed to find that United Bank is estopped from asserting that the term "blood relatives" means "heirs at law."
- C. The circuit court erred in finding that venue was proper in Wood County because the evidence did not support such a finding and, if upheld, such a holding would permit any trustee anywhere to "forum shop" by simply declaring the situs of a trust to be in any county (or state) that it deems fit.
- D. The circuit court erred when it found that Appellants lack standing to sue United Bank and that the trust at issue is a "charitable trust."

⁶Black's Law Dictionary 231 (Abridged 5th ed. 1983) defines "descendants", *inter alia*, to mean "[t]hose persons who are in the blood stream of the ancestor." Albert Price was never married and had no issue. Here, Appellants use the term "descendants" to mean the descendants of Albert Price's parents, who would be the collateral kindred of Dr. Price. Black's Law Dictionary, in comments to the definition of the term "descent" notes that the term "collateral line" is "[a] line of descent connecting persons who are not directly related to each other as ascendants or descendants, but whose relationship consists in common descent from the same ancestor." Id. Such is the case here.

E. The circuit court erred in finding, without even a scintilla of evidence, that Patricia Milam is the sole remaining "blood relative" of Dr. Albert Price.

IV. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES RELIED UPON

Carter v. City of Bluefield, 132 W. Va. 881, 898, 54 S.E.2d 747, 757 (1949) 20

Charleston National Bank v. Thru the Bible Radio Network, 507 S.E.2d 708 (W. Va. 1998) 31

Christian v. Sizemore, 185 W. Va. 409, 407 S.E.2d 715 (1991) 25

Coberly v. Coberly, 580 S.E.2d 515 (W. Va. 2003) 33

Crawford v. Carson, 138 W. Va. 852, 78 S.E.2d 268 (1953) 29

Crispen v. West Virginia Secondary Schools Activities Commission, 525 S.E.2d 677 (W. Va. 1999) 29

Gardner v. Gardner, 144 W. Va. 630, 637, 110 S.E.2d 495, 500 (1959) 20

Goetz v. Old National Bank of Martinsburg, 140 W. Va. 422, 84 S.E.2d 759 (1954) 32, 33

Hall v. Ocean Accident & Guarantee Corp., 122 W. Va. 188, 9 S.E.2d 45 (1940) 28

King v. Riffée, 172 W. Va. 586, 589, 309 S.E.2d 85, 88 (1983) 22

MacDonald v. Long, 100 W. Va. 551, 552, 131 S.E.2d 252, 253 (1926) 20

Moore v. Sun Lumber Co., 166 W. Va. 735, 276 S.E.2d 797 (1981) 25

Security National Bank v. Willim, 152 W. Va. 27, 35, 158 S.E.2d 715, 720 (1968) 17

Shobe v. Latimer, 162 W. Va. 779, 253 S.E.2d 54 (1979) 27

Staats v. Co-Operative Transist Co., 125 W. Va. 473, 24 S.E.2d 916 (1943) 28

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