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

amended, *is* at issue in the current litigation and requires a determination of the Trust's use of the phrase "blood relatives."

In the case at bar, Appellee also named as respondents as many living relatives of Dr. Price as has been made known to it to avoid multiple suits and has published notice of the pending litigation pursuant to an Order of Publication. Just because Appellee listed numerous distant relatives of Dr. Price, however, does not mean that the Trustee concedes they are "blood relatives" as the term is used in the Trust. That question is a question of law, and was the impetus for the declaratory action in the first place.

Thus, the adverse parties named by KB&T in its 1977 litigation are not the same as the adverse parties named by Appellee in its 2003 declaratory judgment action. In fact, neither Kenneth N. Dickens nor Richard Randall Lambert, Jr., the Appellants in the case *sub judici*, were adverse parties in the 1977 litigation. Thus, the second element required for judicial estoppel to arise is not present in this case.

The third element required for judicial estoppel is that "the party taking the inconsistent positions received some benefit from his/her original position." *Robertson, supra*. Again, as previously stated, Appellee's position regarding the legal meaning of the term "blood relatives" is not inconsistent with any position that was addressed in the 1977 litigation, and the party involved in the 1977 litigation was KB&T, the executor of the Price estate, not Appellee, the Trustee of the Price Trust. Nonetheless, Appellee did not receive any benefit from the allegedly inconsistent position taken by KB&T in the 1977 litigation. Appellee's only interest is to properly fulfill its fiduciary duty.<sup>1</sup> In fact,

---

<sup>1</sup> Indeed, Appellee's interest in properly administering the Price Trust in the manner intended by Dr. Price is the very reason that the blood relative preference was stricken from the 1957 trust. In 1988 when the scholarship phase of the Trust was to begin, Attorney David Higgins advised the Trustee that the blood relative preference could be stricken pursuant to W. Va. Code §35-2-9. This would make the Trust a

the cleansing of the blood relative provision and the combination of the two separate trusts into a single trust that fulfilled the intent of the grantor to establish a tax exempt charitable trust, was certainly not in the pecuniary interest of Appellee, as it reduced administrative costs. However, since the Trustee acted only in furtherance of its fiduciary duties, not in the interests of the Trustee's own pecuniary interests, Appellee certainly did not receive any benefit based upon the position allegedly taken by KB&T in the 1977 litigation.

The fourth and final element that must be present for the application of judicial estoppel is that "the original position misled the adverse party so that allowing the estopped party to change his/her position would injuriously affect the adverse party and the integrity of the judicial process." *Robertson, supra*. Appellants, who (like Appellee) were not parties to the 1977 litigation, are not injuriously impacted by Appellee's attempt to determine the proper legal definition of the term "blood relatives." Even if the Appellants or the other Respondents named in the case below could establish that they are properly includable in the category of "blood relatives," they have not alleged that they otherwise qualified to receive scholarships, that they applied and were admitted to either Warren Junior College or Berea College, or that they even applied for a scholarship.

The 2003 declaratory judgment action also does not threaten the integrity of the judicial process. The 1977 litigation, brought by KB&T as executor of the Price estate, addressed the proper disposition of Dr. Price's residuary estate, and occurred over a

---

charitable trust, exempt from federal income taxation and would carry out the overarching intent of the Grantor—the creation of a charitable trust. Indeed, the more valid claim for a breach of fiduciary duty would be if the Trustee did not avail itself of the opportunity to comply with exemption requirements and needlessly allowed the trust assets to be depleted by a tax liability that could be properly avoided.

decade before the scholarship phase of the trust even began. There is no way that the Trustee could refer to the 1978 order and reasonably conclude how to determine who should be included in the phrase "blood relatives," because that issue was not raised and not litigated in the 1977 Boone County action. Of the four elements required for the application of the doctrine of judicial estoppel, none are present in this case.

### 3. COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL DOES NOT APPLY.

Appellants also argue that collateral estoppel bars Appellee from obtaining a declaration of the legal meaning of the term "blood relative." As stated by Appellants, three elements must be present for collateral estoppel to arise: "the issue decided in the prior adjudication must be the same as the one sought to be relitigated in the second action; the first action must have resulted in a final judgment on the merits; and the party against whom the estoppel is asserted must have been a party, or in privity to a party, in the prior action." Moore v. Sun Lumber Co., 166 W. Va. 735, 276 S.E.2d 797 (W. Va., 1981). Collateral estoppel does not arise in this case for the same reasons that judicial estoppel does not arise. The issue of the legal meaning of the term "blood relatives" was never litigated prior to the 2003 declaratory judgment action. There was no final judgment on the merits in the 1977 litigation as to the issue of the legal meaning of the term "blood relatives." Finally, KB&T *as executor* brought the 1977 litigation, while the 2003 declaratory judgment action was brought by Appellee, Trustee of the Price Trust.

Therefore, as none of the elements necessary for judicial estoppel or collateral estoppel are present, it was proper for the circuit court to make a determination of the legal meaning of the term "blood relatives."

**B. APPELLANTS HAVE NO STANDING TO SUE THE TRUSTEE OF A CHARITABLE TRUST.**

In order to assert a cause of action, the asserting party must have standing to do so. “Generally, standing is defined as “[a] party’s right to make a legal claim or seek judicial enforcement of a duty or right.” *Findley v. State Farm Mutual*, 213 W.Va. 80, 576 S.E.2d 807 (2002). According to *Findley*:

Standing . . . is comprised of three elements: First, the party . . . [attempting to establish standing] must have suffered an “injury-in-fact – an invasion of a legally protected interest which is (a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent and not conjectural or hypothetical. Second, there must be a causal connection [between] the injury and the conduct forming the basis of the lawsuit. Third, *it must be likely that the injury will be redressed through a favorable decision of the court.*” (citations omitted)

Furthermore, [s]tanding does not refer simply to a party’s capacity to appear in court. Rather, standing is gauged by the specific common-law, statutory or constitutional claims that a party presents. *Id.* at 821.

Appellants have asserted various tort causes of actions against the Trustee, including claims for breach of fiduciary duty, conversion, mismanagement, contempt, and a request for removal of trustee. These claims constitute a counterclaim to the first-filed declaratory judgment action concerning the Albert M. Price Trust that the Trustee brought in Wood County. Unfortunately for Appellants, they do not have legal standings to assert such a counterclaim, as they cannot even meet the first requisite of standing: an injury-in-fact or the deprivation of some legally protected interest. How are Appellants themselves harmed by the Trustee’s administration of the Price Trust? What injury-in-fact has the Appellants suffered? What concrete and particularized, actual or imminent invasion of a legally protected interest have the Appellants experienced?

Appellants have taken issue with the manner in which the Trustee has administered the Price Trust with respect to its literal provision that the Trustee give preferences to “qualified blood relatives” of the late Albert M. Price for collegiate scholarships for “worthy boys and girls who are keenly interested in and capable of taking advantage of an opportunity for a college education.” The preferences were stated in order as: (1) “qualified blood relatives of the Grantor,” (2) “qualified boys and girls residing in Boone County, West Virginia,” and (3) “qualified boys and girls residing in the other fifty-four counties of West Virginia.” The relevant provision, as amended in 1969 by Dr. Price, provided that when funds were available for the scholarships (i.e., after the death of the last survivor of Dr. Price’s sisters), then the trustee was to notify the proper authorities of Warren Wilson Junior College at Swannanoa, North Carolina, and Berea College, of Berea, Kentucky, the two colleges for which the scholarships were to be awarded “and consult with them as to the advisability of granting or discontinuing particular scholarships.”

In 1988, after Dr. Price’s last remaining sister died and the scholarship phase of the trust began, the Trustee, in an attempt to preserve the tax-exempt status of the trust, concluded that the trust must be administered without a preference for blood relatives in the awarding of scholarships in order to retain the Trust’s tax exempt status and in furtherance of its charitable goals. Fifteen (15) years later, Appellants attempted to attack the Trustee’s decision to construe the charitable trust in such a manner as to preserve the trust’s tax-exempt status. Appellants have no standing to do so, however.

First, as noted above, a party must have an “injury-in-fact”, an “invasion of a legally protected interest which is concrete and particularized and actual or imminent, as

opposed to conjectural and hypothetical. Appellants have never alleged with any degree of specificity how they were possibly injured by any actions taken by the Trustee *in 1988* to secure the tax exempt status of the Price Trust. The tax exempt-offending provision, i.e., blood relative preference for scholarships, was just that – a preference, not a mandate. As provided by the Trust instrument, the scholarships (limited for only two schools) could actually benefit any potential student with West Virginia residency.

Appellants, however, lack legal standing to assert a cause of action against the Trustee based upon such theories as breach of fiduciary duty, conversion, misrepresentation, contempt, or removal of trustee. Even if their definition of “blood relatives” is adopted, they do not qualify as the Trust documents expressly state “*qualified*” “blood relatives.” Appellants have not alleged and cannot allege that they have applied for admission to one of the two colleges. They have not alleged that they applied for the scholarships and were turned down. They have not alleged and cannot allege that they have been admitted to one of the two colleges. Therefore, how can they possibly be “injured” vis-à-vis the Price Trust when they have neither applied for scholarships nor been admitted to either of the two designated colleges?

Additionally, when a trust, such as the Price Trust, is a charitable trust, the right to monitor its proper enforcement is reserved at common law to a public official, such as the state attorney general. See, eg. Bogert, TRUSTS AND TRUSTEES (2d Rev. 1991), § 411, pp. 2-3. Thus, any concerns over the management of a charitable trust like the Price Trust must be asserted by a public official, not by two distant relatives of the testator who cannot even articulate an actual injury.

Appellants, not unexpectedly, take issue with the charitable nature of the Price Trust. There is no question that the *intent* of the Price Trust is charitable in nature. The West Virginia Supreme Court has defined a charitable trust as having “as its purpose or object ‘the relief of poverty; the advancement of education; the advancement of religion; the promotion of health; governmental or municipal purposes; other purposes the accomplishment of which is beneficial to the community”. RESTATEMENT OF THE LAW, SECOND, TRUSTS § 368....” *Goetz v. Old National Bank of Martinsburg*, 140 W.Va. 422, 84 S.E.2d 759, 757 (1954) (Emphasis added). In addition, “One requisite of a charitable trust is that the beneficiaries of the trust as distinguished from the object or purpose of the trust must be indefinite.” *Id.* Further, “It is a rule of general application that charitable trusts are favored.” *Id.*

The stated purpose of the Price Trust is to provide college scholarships. The Trust’s stated purpose is therefore charitable, as the Trust’s purpose is to advance education. “[T]he public benefits arising from the charitable trust justify the selection of some public official for its enforcement. Since the attorney general is the governmental official whose duties include the protection of the rights of the people of the state generally, it is natural that he has been chosen as the protector, supervisor, and enforcer of charitable trusts . . . .” BOGERT, TRUSTS AND TRUSTEES (2d Rev. Ed 1991) § 411, pp. 2-3.

Thus, any complaints regarding the administration of the trust must be brought, if at all, by the West Virginia Attorney General, and not by two persons who may or may not even be “possible” beneficiaries of the trust:

As a general rule no private citizen can sue to enforce a charitable trust merely on the ground that he believe he is within the class to be benefited

by the trust and will receive charitable or other benefit from the operation of the trust. The courts usually require that suits for enforcement be brought by the established representative of the charity, the attorney general, so that the trustee may not be vexed by frequent suits, possibly based on an inadequate investigation and brought by irresponsible parties, and so that the courts may not find their calendars clogged with an unnecessarily large amount of litigation. BOGERT, supra, § 414, p. 39.

See also WILLIAM F. FRATCHER, SCOTT ON TRUSTS, § 391, p. 370-71 (1989); RESTATEMENT OF THE LAW, SECOND, TRUSTS § 391 (1959); *Kania v. Chatham*, 254 S.E.2d 528 (N.C. 1979); *Goetz*, supra, 84 S.E.2d at 772, recognizing that an Attorney General “may invoke the powers of a Court of Equity to enforce a trust where the public has a general interest in its enforcement”, although conceding that the statutes are “silent.” Not surprisingly, Appellants have ignored these substantive arguments in their previous briefings.

For persons such as the Appellants to have standing to sue to enforce a charitable trust, they must either be the official public representative, or have more than a mere possible interest in the trust. In other words, the would-be plaintiff must have a substantial interest and be able to demonstrate actual beneficiary status. See, e.g., *Steenek v. University of Bridgeport*, 668 A.2d 688 (Conn. 1995).

Appellants’ interests are vague, unsubstantiated, and limited to being within a class of mere potential beneficiaries. As at least one court has noted in considering the question of standing to attack a charitable trust administration, “. . . a party cannot be legitimately aggrieved, unless that party has suffered a loss.” *In Re: Charles L. McCune*, 705 A.2d 861, 865 (Pa. 1997).

Accordingly, neither Appellant has any “substantial interest” in the Price Trust. By the Trust’s terms, any resident of a West Virginia county with an interest in a college

education at Warren Junior College or Berea College has a potential interest, since college bound West Virginia residents in general are given a preference over non-West Virginians. Merely having a “preference” under a charitable trust, however, does not qualify one as an actual beneficiary as opposed to a potential beneficiary. The risk of vexatious litigation is great if the floodgates are opened to allow standing to all of the potential beneficiaries under the Price Trust. That is why the common law provides that an official public representative, typically the state attorney general, is the only proper party to bring an action seeking to enforce the terms of a charitable trust.

In a case similar to the case at bar, a challenger to a charitable trust established for scholarship grants was turned away for lack of standing. *Kania v. Chatham, supra*. In *Kania*, the plaintiff filed suit to have the trustees of a foundation removed and to have himself awarded a scholarship. Unlike the Appellants here, he alleged that he had actually been nominated for a scholarship to the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, had superior credentials, but was not awarded a scholarship. He argued that he had standing to challenge the foundation because he was a “potential beneficiary,” having been nominated for a scholarship. *Id.*, 254 S.E.2d at 291-92. In the case at bar, Appellants argue they have standing because they are “potential beneficiaries,” claiming a blood relationship to Dr. Price and the preference originally provided therein for blood relatives to receive college scholarships, although they make no claim to have been admitted to college or nominated for a scholarship.

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